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Executive Summary 
The Eugene Water & Electric Board (EWEB) owns a parcel of land bounded by Lawrence St. and 
Lincoln St., between W 23rd and W 25th Aves. The parcel currently has two reservoirs, College Hill 
603 (completed in 1916) and College Hill 607 (1940), which provide drinking water storage for the 
city of Eugene. Additional resources associated with the reservoirs include a pump house (1927) and 
an elevated steel tank (1940), both of which are located on separate parcels.   

EWEB assessed both reservoirs, neither of which meet current seismic codes. Further, the Oregon 
Health Authority Drinking Water Program deemed the 607 reservoir a water quality risk. EWEB is 
required to repair or replace College Hill 607 by 2023. Following multiple evaluations, EWEB is 
proposing to demolish the deteriorating reservoirs and replace them with two new 7.5-million-gallon 
(MG) circular concrete reservoirs in the location of the existing reservoirs.  

In 2002, the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) determined “College Hill Reservoir” 
eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) under Criterion A, “because it 
was constructed as a (Works Progress Administration) WPA project, and because of the ongoing 
role it plays in the development of the city of Eugene” (Neinstact 2002). FEMA’s 2002 
determination of eligibility (DOE) is over ten years of age and lacks the required historic context, 
statement of significance, integrity assessment, areas and periods of significance, and boundary 
justification necessary to establish the eligibility of the College Hill Reservoirs 603 and 607. The 
purpose of this report is to update FEMA’s DOE for the College Hill Reservoirs to meet current 
State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) guidelines and definitively assess the College Hill 
Reservoir system’s eligibility for listing in the NRHP.  

Historical Research Associates, Inc. (HRA), recommends the College Hill Reservoir 607 is locally 
significant under Criterion A, in the areas of Community Planning and Development and 
Politics/Government, and under Criterion C, in the area of architecture, with a period of 
significance of 1940, the date of completion. The College Hill Reservoir 607 is recommended 
individually eligible as a structure. The significance of the resource seems best conveyed independent 
of associated resources (the College Hill Reservoir 603, pump house, and steel tank), which do not 
appear to retain sufficient integrity to convey historic significance. As such, the recommended 
boundary of the eligible property is limited to the footprint of the College Hill Reservoir 607.  

EWEB’s requirements to remove the College Hill Reservoirs will result in the demolition of an 
eligible historic property. HRA recommends EWEB acknowledge the impact to the resource under 
Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 358.653 and begin consultation with the SHPO, local Tribes, Restore 
Oregon, the City of Eugene Historic Landmark Commission, local historical societies or museums, 
and other interested parties as appropriate. Consultation should include discussions about 
appropriate mitigation measures to resolve the adverse effect, which should be formalized in a 
Memorandum of Agreement (MOA).  
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1. Introduction 
The Eugene Water & Electric Board (EWEB) owns a parcel of land bounded by Lawrence St. and 
Lincoln St., between W 23rd and W 25th Aves. The parcel currently has two reservoirs, College Hill 
603 (completed in 1916) and College Hill 607 (1940), which provide drinking water storage for the 
City of Eugene. Additional resources associated with the reservoirs include a pump house (1927) 
and an elevated steel tank (1940), both of which are located on separate parcels.   

The “603” and “607” in the names refers to the elevation above sea level of the overflow pipe inside 
the reservoir; historically, the reservoirs were referred to as College Hill Reservoir Nos. 1 and 2, 
respectively. College Hill 603 is a 2.5-million-gallon (MG) rectangular concrete reservoir constructed 
in 1915. The reservoir was initially constructed as an open reservoir; in 1933–1934, EWEB removed 
the original hand railing and constructed a new concrete cover. To the best of EWEB’s knowledge, 
no additional work was conducted on the reservoir since 1933, excepting routine maintenance and 
upkeep activities. The reservoir is no longer in use and was decommissioned.  

College Hill 607 is a 15 MG rectangular concrete reservoir. Completed in 1940 with a Public Works 
Administration (PWA) matching grant, the reservoir has had numerous upgrades in the recent past 
to try and remedy a leaking roof, aging piping infrastructure, and weakened concrete. The 
improvements included constructing new roof joints, applying a coating on the top of the roof to 
stop leaks through the concrete, new fencing and gates, and new doors to the catacombs. 

1.1 Project Description 
EWEB assessed both reservoirs, neither of which meet current seismic codes. Further, the Oregon 
Health Authority Drinking Water Program deemed the 607 reservoir a water quality risk. EWEB is 
required to repair or replace College Hill 607 by 2023. Following multiple evaluations, EWEB is 
proposing to demolish the deteriorating reservoirs and replace them with two new 7.5 MG circular 
concrete reservoirs in the location of the existing reservoirs. The new reservoirs will have a diameter 
between 183 and 195 feet (ft), depending on the final depth. They will be 38 ft tall, but only 15 ft 
will be exposed to view. It is EWEB’s intent to maintain the existing open-space characteristics of 
the reservoir parcel.  

1.2 Eligible Historic Property  
In 2002, the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) determined “College Hill Reservoir” 
eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) under Criterion A, “because it 
was constructed as a (Works Progress Administration) WPA project, and because of the ongoing 
role it plays in the development of the city of Eugene” (Neinstact 2002). However, the 
determination makes no mention of the fact that there are two reservoirs; provides no justification 
for association with the WPA; and does not provide an area or period of significance or 
recommended boundary for the historic property. Further, the determination provides no historic 



 

2 College Hill Reservoir Intensive Level Survey 
 

context relative to the original period of construction, ca. 1915. FEMA’s 2002 determination of 
eligibility (DOE) is over ten years of age and lacks the required historic context, statement of 
significance, integrity assessment, areas and periods of significance, and boundary justification 
necessary to establish the eligibility of the College Hill Reservoirs 603 and 607.  

1.3 Consultation 
In 2019, EWEB submitted an Oregon State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) clearance form 
indicating the intent to replace the NRHP-eligible College Hill Reservoirs. In a letter dated August 
16, 2019, under SHPO Case No. 19-1211, SHPO’s Historic Preservation Specialist Tracy Schwartz 
assessed the demolition of the reservoirs as an adverse effect to historic properties. Schwartz advised 
EWEB to either provide information to SHPO that suggests the property is not NRHP-eligible, or 
to acknowledge an impact to the resource under Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 358.653. Schwartz 
further advised that, if avoiding the adverse effect is not possible, discussions about appropriate 
mitigation measures to resolve the adverse effect should be formalized in a Memorandum of 
Agreement (MOA) following consultation with appropriate consulting parties. Consulting parties 
may include Tribes, Restore Oregon, the City of Eugene Historic Landmark Commission, local 
historical societies or museums, and other interested parties as appropriate. Mitigation is what all 
parties agree to and should provide a public benefit. 

1.4 Purpose of Intensive Level Survey  
The purpose of this report is to update FEMA’s 2002 DOE for the College Hill Reservoirs to meet 
current SHPO guidelines for intensive-level surveys (ILSs). ILSs record in-depth information 
collected from a physical examination of a resource’s physical features, include research about the 
property and ownership history, and identify the resource’s eligibility for listing in the NRHP under 
all criteria either individually or as a contributing resource to a historic district. The following ILS is 
a compliance-driven documentation intended to clarify the history of the College Hill Reservoir 
system and definitively assess its eligibility for listing in the NRHP.  

1.5 Assumptions 
The ILS was written with an assumption that the College Hill Reservoir system, which includes a 
grouping of four structures, is eligible for listing in the NRHP as a structure (Figures 1-1 and 1-2). As 
defined by the National Park Service (NPS), a structure is a functional construction made for 
purposes other than creating human shelter. As with other NRHP classifications, a structure can 
include multiple individual resources (a small grouping) listed under a single category using the 
primary resource (NPS 1997:4). For the College Hill Reservoir system, the primary resource is the 
College Hill Reservoir 607, historically known as the College Hill Reservoir No. 2. Secondary 
resources include the College Hill Reservoir 603 (historically known as the College Hill Reservoir 
No. 1), a pump house, and an elevated steel tank. The eligibility of the system is further discussed in 
Section 4.  
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Figure 1-1. Topographical map of resources associated with the College Hill Reservoir system.  
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Figure 1-2. Aerial image of resources associated with the College Hill Reservoir system.  
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2. Historic Context 
A favorable bond market in February 1914 enabled the City of Eugene to fund construction of “as 
fine a water system as can be had,” expanding from one reservoir on Skinner’s Butte to a three-
reservoir system including College Hill, all connected by a 12-inch main and supported by two 
Willamette River wells (Morning Register 1914:1, 4). In 1915, the Eugene Water Board (EWB) selected 
one of the three designs by civil engineer and EWB member Carl A. McClain and Assistant 
Engineer F. W. Dietrich for a 2.5 MG reservoir on College Hill (Moore 1934:1). The “big concrete 
tank” was intended to provide additional water pressure in the main lines of the water system and to 
supply underserved areas of the city (Morning Register 1915a:3).  

On April 3, 1915, members of the Eugene Water Board officially closed the bidding for the new 
reservoir, with 16 bids received (EWB 1915:1). On April 5, the board approved two proposals: one 
for excavation and embankment of the reservoir location by the Mohawk Wood Yard at a price of 
$6,758, and, the second, for construction by Mr. H. E. Doering of Portland, Oregon, for a price of 
$9,245 (EWB 1915:6–7). Doering, however, made a clerical error in his bid and withdrew it from 
consideration, resulting in construction award to Mr. Guy F. Pyle of Eugene, Oregon, for a price of 
$10,635 (EWB 1915:13–14). Gross Brothers was also awarded a $545.40 contract for fencing the 
reservoir (EWB 1915:15). In June, the Board awarded a contract for construction of a (wood) 
reservoir sewer drain to K. L. Hall for $187.00 (EWB 1915:34). Shortly after, in July, the newly 
poured reservoir was tested for leaks (Morning Register 1915b:5). On August 15, 1915, the new 
reservoir was placed into service, after which the surrounding area was backfilled (Morning Register 
1915c:8). On May 8, 1916, the Board noted the work of the Mohawk Wood Yard complete (EWB 
1916:138). 

In 1925, the EWB purchased additional lots in the College Hill Park addition for the planned 
construction of a second reservoir on College Hill (EWEB 1925:353). It was not until May 9, 1927, 
however, that the Board executed a contract with the W.W.B. Construction Company in the amount 
of $267.00. The contract, for the construction of a pump house at 23rd and Lawrence at the site of 
the College Hill Reservoir, was in support of the “College Hill second level reservoir” (EWB 
1927:112). The contract accompanied an order to “proceed with the laying of a four inch pipe on 
23rd Avenue West from Lawrence to Charnelton and on Charnelton from 23rd to 22nd Avenue as a 
part of the College Hill second level system” (EWB 1927:112). Work on the pumphouse was 
completed by June 13, 1927 (EWB 1927:128).  

By 1928, the City of Eugene had changed the water source from the Willamette River to the 
McKenzie River. This change, along with urban growth around the College Hill Reservoir, led to 
some concerns regarding water quality. The “troubles from human contamination increased,” along 
with an increase in algae growth presumably from the new water source (Moore 1934:1). The 
combined problems led to unsatisfactory conditions and the need to drain, wash, and refill the 
College Hill reservoir on average every two weeks in the summer months (Moore 1934:1).  

In 1932, under the direction of then Superintendent McClain, B. K. Taylor designed a concrete 
cover for the reservoir (EWB 1932:350; Moore 1934:1). On September 11, 1933, the decision to 
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expedite the covering of the reservoir resulted in the Board applying to the PWA for financial 
assistance. As noted in the Board’s resolution, the 

Federal Government has adopted a policy favorable to the construction or public works, and has 
made funds available for the construction of the same when approved by the Government... [and] the 
Water Board is desirous of securing funds from the monies made available by the Government for 
the construction of a cover for said reservoir, the General Superintendent of the Eugene Water Board 
is therefore authorized hereby to make the proper application for such funds and have the proper 
reports, maps, plans, etc., prepared and presented to the Administrator, Federal Emergency 
Administration of Public Works at Portland. Oregon; and the said General Superintendent is also 
hereby authorized to sign all papers for making such application. [EWB 1933:397] 

The resolution was unanimously approved, and the Eugene Water Board submitted a $250,000 
application of grant to the Federal Emergency Administration of Public Works on August 10, 1933 
(McArthur 1933). However, it is unclear if the PWA responded favorably and with funds. As noted 
by W. J. Moore in his Chronological Report on Construction of Concrete Cover for College Hill Reservoir, “...a 
great effort was made to get Federal money under the P.W.A. Act. After spending considerable 
energy, and losing much time, it was finally decided to go ahead with the work” (Moore 1934:2). 
Moore’s statement implies the reservoir cover was not funded by PWA money. Regardless, from 
October 3 through December 31, 1933, the original wrought iron fence and concrete parapet wall 
were removed, a waterproof coating was added, and six concrete panels were constructed to cover 
the reservoir (Moore 1934).  

The College Hill area, isolated by check valves and served by a booster pump to raise the pressure 
during the irrigation part of the day, was outgrowing the capacity of the booster pump (EWB 
1938:125). On March 11, 1935, the Board authorized the purchase, “if available at tax sale, the Lots 
1 - 8, inclusive, and Lots 12 - 18, inclusive, in Block 55 of College Hill Park. These lots lie adjacent 
to and directly South of the present College Hill Reservoir, and are especially suitable for additional 
reservoir construction” (EWB 1935:471). In addition to those lots previously purchased in 1925, the 
combined property enabled the Board to move forward with designs for a second reservoir. 
However, it was another three years before the design phase was complete.   

On June 13, 1938, the Board heard multiple options for expanding the reservoir system on College 
Hill (EWB 1938:125). One option was to install a small tank reservoir on the top of the hill south of 
the extant main reservoir. However, a letter from V. H. Todd, Senior (local) WPA engineer, 
suggested 

he could secure through the W.P.A. agency allotments for aid in constructing a large reservoir on 
College Hill. The Board gave consideration to this letter, and also discussed the possibilities of a 
P.W.A. grant, but there seemed to be a question in the mind of the Board as to whether a large 
reservoir was needed at this time, and the Secretary was requested to secure more detailed estimates of 
the cost of both the suggested 15 million gallon reservoir and a smaller one of 5 or 6 million gallons, 
and report at the next Board meeting. [EWB 1938:125]  

On July 11, 1938, the Board heard various estimates on different sizes and layouts for an additional 
reservoir on College Hill. 

Mr. V. H. Todd, Sr. Engineer for the W.P.A., was present and explained to the Board the estimate 
and proposal which he thought the W.P.A. would approve in regard to the construction of about a 
15,000,000 gallon reservoir. The Board gave the various estimates and reports with regard to the 
reservoir construction due consideration, and after discussion... [authorized] application to the 
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W.P.A., and also the P.W.A. if found advisable, for assistance in building a reservoir of approximately 
15.000,000 gallons capacity, and a proper sized steel tower and tank for the higher level service on 
College Hill. [EWB 1938:127]  

In order to make application for either WPA or PWA funds, the design of the reservoir and steel 
tank had to be completed. The Board approved a $4,000 proposal by R. E. Koon, of Stevens and 
Koon, to design the reservoir and elevated steel tank and prepare bid specifications (EWB 
1938:127). On September 12, Koon presented partially completed plans to the Board, noting the 
plans and specifications would probably be completed and ready for construction in approximately 
six weeks (EWB 1938:139).  

By October 10, “a formal offer had been received from the United States of America for a grant of 
$112,500,” to aid in the construction of a reinforced concrete reservoir with concrete cover for 
approximately 15 MG water storage, and a 100,000-gallon steel tower tank, together with the 
necessary appurtenances. The Board unanimously resolved to accept the grant (EWB 1938:142). The 
federal grant, which represented 45 percent of the total construction costs, came with specific 
timelines: work had to begin within 12 weeks of the offer and be completed within 15 months from 
the commencement of construction (PWA 1938).  

On November 14, the Board opened bidding for construction of Unit 1, which included excavation 
of the reservoir, and Unit 3, construction of the elevated steel tank; bids were closed on December 
5, 1938. The Board opened bidding for Unit 2, which included construction of the concrete 
reservoir, at a later date on February 27, 1939 (EWB 1938:145, 157). The Board received eight bids 
for Unit 1 and awarded the contract to the lowest bidder, Mountain States Construction Company, 
who bid $51,523.50. The Board received six bids for Unit 3 and awarded the contract to the lowest 
bidder, the Steel Tank & Pipe Company, who bid $9,300.00 (EWB 1939:149–150). The Board 
reviewed ten bids for construction of Unit 2, and awarded the contract to the lowest bidder, H. J. 
Adler Construction Co., who bid $149,888.00 (EWB 1939:165). 

The Board received the first requisition check for the PWA grant for the College Hill Reservoir for 
the sum of $62,500.00 in February 1939 (EWB 1939:164), at which time construction of Units 1 and 
3 were already under way. By April 10, 1939, the Mountain State Construction Co. had completed 
excavation work (Unit 1) at a total cost of $52,890.48 (EWB 1939:172). By July, the Steel Tank & 
Pipe Company completed the elevated steel tank (Unit 3). At that time, the Board opened bidding 
for a myriad of materials and supplies required to complete the reservoir, including galvanized 
conduit, lamp receptacles, fuses, telephone wires, cables, and flanges (EWB 1939:185). The Board 
received three acceptable bids, from R. A. Babb Hardware Company and C. P. Tillman Company, 
both of Eugene, and the Consolidated Supply Company of Portland, all of which were approved to 
supply various items. These expenses, along with those associated with laying pipes and mains to the 
reservoir, required an amendment to the federal grant in the amount of an additional $31,932 (Clark 
1935).  

On January 12, 1940, the EWB and PWA inspected the reservoir (Unit 2) and deemed the work of 
H. J. Alder Construction Co. complete (EWB 1940:215). In May, the Board received the final grant 
check from PWA in the amount of $28,137.68 (EWB 1940:228).  
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Following completion of the reservoir, the site became a popular spot for various recreational 
activities. One idea, presented by the Eugene Playground Commission during construction of the 
reservoirs, was to locate tennis courts, basketball courts, and other playground facilities on the top 
of the reservoir (EWB 1940:186). While that concept never manifested, the spot became 
immediately popular with young bicyclists (see Figure 2-1). Motorists also found the spot a desirable 
lookout (EWB 1948:58). In the 1950s, City official expressed a desire to develop the site as a 
playground area, proposing $25,000 in landscaping and playground improvements though, again, 
these plans never manifested (EWB 1950:190; 1953:370). While not recreational, in October 1962, 
the U.S. Office of Civil Defense also classified, and the Board subsequently approved, the College 
Hill Reservoir for a Fallout Shelter License or Privilege (EWB 1962:156). Throughout the 1980s, 
EWB contracted the Lane County Sherriff’s Department to patrol the reservoir during annual 4th of 
July celebrations, to “discourage capricious acts such as vandalism and illegal fireworks” to ensure 
“an atmosphere of leisure...to allow those families that annually spend the evening viewing our 
community’s celebration from this vantage point a more placid surrounding” (Lum 1987).  

 

 
Figure 2-1. College Hill Reservoir No. 2, February 11, 1940, looking north at entrance house structure. EWEB Image No. 
1910, courtesy of EWEB.  
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3. Physical Description  
The College Hill Reservoir system is located in Eugene’s College Hill neighborhood in Section 6 of 
Township 18 East Range 3 West of Lane County, Oregon. The two rectangular reservoirs, known as 
College Hill Reservoir 603 (completed in 1916) and College Hill Reservoir 607 (1940), are positioned 
adjacent to each other in a residential neighborhood on tax parcels 1803061307600 and 
1803061307600, respectably. The north–south aligned reservoirs are bordered by Lawrence St. and 
Lincoln St. to the west and east, and W 23rd Ave. and W 25th Ave. to the north and south. The 
reservoirs, named after their respective elevations of 603 ft and 607 ft, are built atop a slight rise. 
The sloping landscape leaves part of each reservoir built at grade, part supported by infill, and part 
exposed. Associated resources associated with the reservoir system include a pump house (1927) and 
elevated steel water tower (1940).  

3.1 College Hill Reservoir 603 (No. 1, 1916, 1933) 
College Hill Reservoir 603, now decommissioned, is the smaller of the two reservoirs (Figures 3.1-1 
to 3.1-4). The poured-concrete reservoir measures 125 ft wide by 185 ft long, with variable depths of 
12 ft (at the south end), 17 ft (to the west), and 18 ft (to the north and east) resulting in a capacity of 
2.5 million gallons (McClain and Dietrich 1915). As originally designed, 3 ft of the reservoir extends 
aboveground. The north end the reservoir is supported by infill and a retaining wall bordering 
Lawrence St.  

Reservoir 603 is covered with a six-panel concrete slab, completed December 31, 1933, at which 
time the original iron fencing was removed. A slight overhang on the slab creates a lip around the 
perimeter. Rectangular boxes affixed to the top of the concrete slab on the northwest and southeast 
corners provide narrow access shafts to the reservoir’s interior.  

 

 
Figure 3.1-1. College Hill Reservoir 603; view northeast. 

 
Figure 3.1-2. College Hill Reservoir 603; view northwest. 
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Figure 3.1-3. College Hill Reservoir 603 (foreground), with 
College Hill Reservoir 607 partially visible (back); view south. 

 
Figure 3.1-4. College Hill Reservoir 603 (foreground); with 
College Hill Reservoir 607 partially visible (left); view southwest. 

Integrity  
When initially constructed in ca. 1915, College Hill Reservoir 603 was an open-air reservoir 
surrounded by a decorative wrought iron fence (Figures 3.1-5–3.1-8). In 1933, prior to the 
construction of Reservoir 607, Reservoir 603 was covered with a concrete slab. At that time, the 
decorative wrought-iron fence was removed.  

 
The reservoir retains integrity of location, as it is located on its original footprint. However, from its 
period of construction, Reservoir 603 suffers from an irretrievable loss of integrity of design, 
materials, workmanship, setting, feeling, and association. Covering the reservoir in 1933 altered its 
appearance and function as an open-air reservoir, removing decorative elements and removing the 
public water feature. Though these alterations are now considered of the historic period (meaning, 
the alterations were made more than 50 years ago), they were incompatible to the structure’s original 
intent of beauty and functionality in utility. While the massing and function of the reservoir were 
retained, the integrity of association was further compromised with the reservoir was disconnected 
from the College Hill Reservoir system.  
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Figure 3.1-5. College Hill Reservoir 603, approximately July 
1931; view southwest. Image courtesy of EWEB. 

 
Figure 3.1-6. College Hill Reservoir 603, approximately July 
1931; view (assumed) west. Image courtesy of EWEB. 

 

 
Figure 3.1-7. College Hill Reservoir 603 cover, view showing No. 5 panel during placing of concrete. 
Photo by W. J. Moore, November 21, 1933. Image No. 1245, courtesy of EWEB.  
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Figure 3.1-8. Interior of College Hill Reservoir 603 after completion of cover, December 26, 1933. 
Photo by Dot Dotson. Image 1246, courtesy of EWEB.  

3.2 Pump House (1927) 
Northwest of Reservoir 603, fronting Lawrence St., is an EWEB-owned building constructed in 
1927 into the hillside (Figure 3.2-1). The building aligns with a residence above and appears to be 
small in scale, though it is unknown how deep the building extends into the hillside. Visible portions 
include a symmetrical facade, marked by a central metal door with modern hardware. Flanking the 
doorway near the ground are rectangular vents with louvered metal covers. Above the door are two 
circular cutouts, likely air vents, with inset metal lattice screening. The facade is topped by a front-
gabled roof covered in ivy. A metal pole extending upward from the north end of the facade 
supports electrical conduits.  
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Figure 3.2-1. EWEB building fronting Lawrence St.; view 
northeast. 

Integrity 
From its period of construction (1927), the College Hill pump house appears to retain integrity of 
materials, design, workmanship, and location. Integrity of feeling, association, and setting were 
compromised when residential construction was complete atop the resource; the result is that the 
pump house appears to be a subterranean garage space associated with the residence as opposed to a 
pump house associated with the nearby reservoir. It is unknown if the pump house is still utilized as 
part of the College Hill Reservoir system. Access to the interior was not available during the time of 
survey.  

3.3 College Hill Reservoir 607 (No. 2, 1940) 
College Hill Reservoir 607 is approximately 242 ft by 477 ft and has a 15 MG capacity (Figures 3.3-
1–3.3-7) (Stevens & Koon 1939:1). The top pf the reservoir is located at a standard elevation of 
6.7.75 feet above mean sea level (msl). The concrete cover of the reservoir, located at a standard 
elevation of 608.40 feet above msl appears at variable grades to the surrounding topography, with 
approximately 6 ft of wall exposed on the northwest corner; 22.25 ft on the northeast and southeast 
corners, and approximately 2 ft on the southwest corner.  
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As stated, on the west side, the poured-concrete reservoir is roughly at-grade on the south half, with 
approximately 6 ft of the reservoir wall exposed on the north end. At the middle of the west face is a 
pedestrian entrance to the concrete reservoir top. This entrance is marked by a modern metal guard 
rail with a switch back. At the north end of the west wall is an 11-step concrete stair, providing 
pedestrian access to the top of the reservoir. A small metal door on the south side of the stairs 
allows access to the underside of the stairway.  

The exposed portion of the north wall of the reservoir gradually increases as the ground slopes 
downward to the east. As more wall is exposed toward the east end of the north side, relief details in 
the concert and a flare in the wall is revealed. The flare appears to be a decorative element used to 
on the exterior of a cantilevered toe support wall (Stevens & Koon 1939:3). A pedestrian door is 
located in an egress on the east end; metal fencing borders the egress, extending perpendicular from 
the reservoir wall.  

On the east side of the reservoir, as stated, approximately 22.5 ft of the wall extends aboveground. 
The flare of the wall begins at approximately 10.5 ft above grade, with the swoop completed at 15 ft 
above grade, after which the wall continues vertically to the top of the reservoir (Stevens & Koon 
1939:14). On this face of the reservoir, the poured-concrete wall reveals the modest ornamentation 
of the cubic relief insets in the concrete, positioned both above and below the flare. 

Atop the reservoir, a safety fence rail lines the perimeter of the reservoir. The fence is made of 
tapered concrete pillars set equidistant, approximately 7.5 ft apart, with metal piping extending in 
three horizontal lines between and attached to the back side of each pillar. The rail line varies at the 
midline of the west and east walls, where additional expansion pillars (one on each side) are offset 
approximately 4 ft toward the center of the reservoir top to allow for expansion and contraction of 
the metal. The metal piping extends toward and is attached to the offset pillar. The railing also lines 
the stairway on the northeast corner of the reservoir. Alterations to the railing include an iron gate at 
the top of the stairs and cyclone fencing installed on the exterior of the safety rail around the 
perimeter of the reservoir.  

The concrete slab atop the reservoir comprises 32 square sections. Atop the reservoir, in the middle 
of the east wall, is a rectangular entrance structure measuring approximately 30 ft by 8 ft. The 
entrance structure is made of concrete clad in stucco, and is topped by a metal, mushroom-shaped 
roof. At the narrow ends of the building (east and west faces), the north and south walls extend out 
with a flare complimentary to the flare of the reservoir’s exterior walls. A single metal door is 
positioned on the west side of the building, which accesses the interior stairs to the enclosed 
reservoir below. The north face of the entrance structure is marked by two rectangular plaques—the 
top plaque honoring the Federal Works Agency’s PWA, and the lower plaque names members of 
the EWB and people who constructed the reservoir. 
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Figure 3.3-1. West entrance to College Hill Reservoir 607; view 
northeast. Note the offset railing pillar. 

Figure 3.3-2. College Hill Reservoir 607 roof and entrance 
structure; view east.  

  
Figure 3.3-3. College Hill Reservoir 607, stairway on north end 
of west face; view northeast. 

Figure 3.3-4. Reservoir 603 (right); and north face of Reservoir 
607 (left); view southwest. 

  
Figure 3.3-5. College Hill Reservoir 607, north face, east end; 
view southeast. 

Figure 3.3-6. College Hill Reservoir 607, east face, north end; 
view southwest. 
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Figure 3.3-7. Entrance structure atop College Hill Reservoir 
607; view northeast. 

Figure 3.3-8. Plaques on entrance structure atop College Hill 
Reservoir 607. 

Interior 
There are two distinct interior spaces of the College Hill Reservoir 607: the reservoir itself (Figures 
3.3-9 and 3.3-10), and an area located along the east side of the structure known as the catacombs 
(Figures 3.3-11 and 3.3-12).  

The reservoir is bisected into two water retention/storage areas, one each north and south. These 
are separated by the central stairwell accessed via the entrance structure. The interior of the 
reservoirs are open for water storage, with the exception of the monumental concrete columns that 
support the structure’s roof. The columns, which sit on concrete base footings, rise on average 20 
feet to support a drop panel which in turn supports the roof panels (Stevens & Koon 1939:5).  

The catacombs are located on the east face, accessed via pedestrian doors at the northeast corner, on 
the east face, and at the southeast corner. The catacombs are defined by the buttressing walls that 
brace the reservoir structure on the east (down sloping) side of College Hill, and partially wrap the 
structure at the north and south faces. Additional open spaces located approximately center of the 
reservoir (beneath the entrance structure) are defined by arched openings that allow access beneath 
the stairs for maintenance. 
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Figure 3.3-9. North reservoir area, with detail of columns and 
roofs, view south. 

Figure 3.3-10. North reservoir area, view north.  

  
Figure 3.3-11. Catacombs beneath College Hill Reservoir 607; view south. Figure 3.3-12. Catacombs beneath 

College Hill Reservoir 607; view 
west. 

Integrity 
From its period of construction, the College Hill Reservoir 607 retains integrity of materials, design, 
workmanship, feeling, association, setting and location, as no major alterations appear to have been 
undertaken (see also Appendix B [Stevens & Koon 1939] and Appendix C, Select Historic Period 
Photographs). 
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3.4 Elevated Steel Tank (1940) 
Constructed simultaneously to College Hill Reservoir 607, the elevated steel tank has a 100,000-
gallon capacity (Figures 3.4-1 and 3.4-2). The multi-column (leg type) style features six concrete 
footings that support an equal number of cross-braced steel legs, set in a circle with a 32 ft diameter. 
The legs support an oblong cylinder accessed via a revolving ladder and manhole at the top.  

 

 
Figure 3.4-1. View of elevated steel tank from top of College Hill Reservoir 607; view south.  

Integrity 
From its period of construction, the elevated steel tank retains integrity of materials, design, 
workmanship, and location. However, the integrity of feeling, association, and setting were altered 
when the steel tank, like the College Hill Reservoir 603, was decommissioned and disconnected 
from the water system. Physically, though the tank remains in its historic-period location and has not 
been moved, in the 1950s, EWEB sold the lots located between the College Hill Reservoir 607 and 
the steel tank. Houses were constructed, and the resources no longer retains spatial connectivity to 
the other resources of the College Hill Reservoir system. 
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Figure 3.4-2. 1938 Design of “High Service Water Tower” by Stevens & Koon for Unit 3 of the College Hill 
Reservoir system. Image courtesy of EWEB.  



 

20 College Hill Reservoir Intensive Level Survey 
 

4. Evaluation 
As previously noted, the College Hill Reservoir system, as extant, includes a grouping of four 
structures assumed eligible for listing in the NRHP. As defined by the NPS, a structure is a 
functional construction made for purposes other than creating human shelter. As with other NRHP 
classifications, a structure can include multiple individual resources (a small grouping) listed under a 
single category using the primary resource (NPS 1997:4). For the College Hill Reservoir system, as 
extant at the time of survey in 2020, the primary resource is the College Hill Reservoir 607, 
historically known as the College Hill Reservoir No. 2. Secondary resources include the College Hill 
Reservoir 603 (historically known as the College Hill Reservoir No. 1), a pump house, and an 
elevated steel tank. 

Criterion A 
Under Criterion A, properties can be determined eligible for listing in the NRHP if they are 
associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history. 
The College Hill Reservoir system was initially constructed in 1915, completed in 1916, to provide 
additional water pressure in the main lines of the extant Eugene water system and to supply 
underserved areas of the city (Morning Register 1915a:3). The construction of College Hill Reservoir 
603 expanded capacity from one reservoir on Skinner’s Butte to an eventual three-reservoir system 
including College Hill and Hendrick’s Park, all of which were connected by a 12-inch main and 
supported by two Willamette River wells (Morning Register 1914:1, 4). Designed by civil engineer and 
EWB member Carl A. McClain and Assistant Engineer F. W. Dietrich, the 2.5 MG reservoir on 
College Hill was excavated by the Mohawk Wood Yard at a price of $6,758, and constructed by Guy 
F. Pyle for a price of $10,635 (EWB 1915:13–14). Additional services such as fencing and the 
installation of sewer drains, were supplied by Gross and K. L. Hall, respectively. 

In 1928, following the City’s change in water source from the Willamette River to the McKenzie 
River and a period of urban growth around College Hill, concerns regarding water quality from 
human contamination and algae growth in the open reservoir led to unsatisfactory conditions and 
the need to drain, wash, and refill the College Hill Reservoir 603 on average every two weeks in the 
summer months. In 1932, under the direction of then Superintendent McClain, B. K. Taylor 
designed a concrete cover for the reservoir, which was completed on December 31, 1933 (Moore 
1934). The loss of the open-air reservoir on College Hill marked the end of an era of open water 
systems, which in Oregon are typified by the NRHP-listed Mt. Tabor Reservoirs and Washington 
Park Reservoirs, both historically part of the Bull Run water system of Portland.  

As early as 1927, when the Board contracted the W.W.B. Construction Company to build a pump 
house at 23rd and Lawrence, a second reservoir on College Hill was under consideration (EWB 
1927:112). While the Board applied for but was apparently denied PWA financial assistance for 
covering of the College Hill Reservoir 603 in 1933, by 1938, the outlook was more favorable. At the 
urging of WPA Engineer V. H. Todd, the Board applied to the WPA and PWA for assistance in 
building a 15 MG reservoir and a 100,000-gallon steel tower and tank for College Hill (EWB 
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1938:127). The subsequent PWA grant of $112,500 represented 45 percent of the total construction 
costs and came with a requirement that all work must be completed within 15 months from the 
commencement of construction (PWA 1938). 

The subsequent College Hill Reservoir No. 2 system was designed by Stevens and Koon. The 
Mountain States Construction Company completed the excavation. The Steel Tank & Pipe 
Company constructed the elevated steel tank. The H. J. Adler Construction Co. constructed the 
reservoir (EWB 1939:149–150, 165). While the PWA provided grant funding, all labor appears to 
have been provided by these local businesses.  

While the construction of the first reservoir on College Hill was representative of the growth of 
Eugene in the early twentieth century, that significance is not typified by the extant College Hill 
Reservoir 603. The loss of the open-air reservoir and its character-defining iron fence, removed and 
covered in 1933, make it a poor example of a ca. 1915 reservoir. The College Hill Reservoir 603, and 
its associated system, do not convey significance within this early period, nor do they appear to 
convey significance with a PWA or other federally funded grant programs. Likewise, the pump 
house (1927), though arguably constructed in anticipation of a second reservoir on College Hill, 
does not convey significance for association with the construction programs of the PWA or the 
associated College Hill Reservoir expansion of the late 1930s.    

Alternately, the College Hill Reservoir 607 and elevated steel tank (1940) are associated with the 
PWA programs of the late 1930s. Though the reservoir and tank were only partially subsidized by a 
PWA grant, they are representative of the use of the program to provide funding in support of local 
construction of public works projects during the Great Depression (1929–1939; the PWA was 
created in 1933). Functionally, however, the steel tank, like the College Hill Reservoir 603, has been 
decommissioned and is no longer is part of the water system. Physically, though the tank remains in 
its historic-period location and has not been moved, in the 1950s, EWEB sold the lots located 
between the College Hill Reservoir 607 and the steel tank. Houses were constructed, and the two 
resources no longer retain their spatial connectivity.  

As such, the College Hill Reservoir 607 and the elevated steel tank, while locally significant under 
Criterion A in the areas of Community Planning and Development and Politics/Government, do 
not appear to collectively convey this association. Instead, the significance seems best conveyed by 
the College Hill Reservoir 607.   

Criterion B 
Under Criterion B, properties can be determined eligible for listing in the NRHP if they are 
associated with the lives of persons significant in our past (i.e., persons whose activities are 
demonstrably important within a local, state, or national context). While research revealed the 
collective resources of the College Hill Reservoir system were associated with numerous individual 
persons, the system itself is an example of a municipal water system developed and altered over 
many years (ca. 1915–1940). As such, the system as a whole (nor any of the individual resources) 
does not appear to be directly associated with any specific individuals and is not eligible under 
Criterion B.   
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Criterion C 
Under Criterion C, properties can be determined eligible for listing in the NRHP if they embody the 
distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or represent the works of a 
master, or possess high artistic values, or represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose 
components may lack individual distinction (i.e., are part of a district). Discrete features, a particular 
structure for example, may best be documented under this Criterion, though collections of resources 
may also have significance under Criterion C for architecture or engineering association.  

As noted under Criterion A, while the first reservoir on College Hill was representative of an open-
air reservoir, the loss of the character-defining iron fence and the subsequent covering of the 
structure in 1933 make it a poor example of the type. Likewise, the pump house (1927) does not 
embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction; or represent the 
work of a master; or possess high artistic values. While both the College Hill Reservoir 603 and the 
pump house are part of the College Hill Reservoir system, that system does not seem to constitute a 
district (i.e., a significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual 
distinction). Rather, as noted in the assumptions (Section 1.5), the College Hill Reservoir system 
does not appear to meet the classification of a district but is rather best considered as a structure. As 
defined by the NPS, a structure is a functional construction made for purposes other than creating 
human shelter. As with other NRHP classifications, a structure can include multiple individual 
resources (a small grouping) listed under a single category using the primary resource (NPS 1997:4).  

For the College Hill Reservoir system, the primary resource, visually, is the College Hill Reservoir 
607. Historically known as the College Hill Reservoir No. 2 and completed in 1940, the resource 
features a monumental scale of both exterior and interior massing. On the east face, specifically, the 
exterior buttress walls of the reservoir exhibit a funicular shaped curve before dropping horizontally 
to the ground. Additional research is needed to understand if this detail was a decorative decision or 
an engineering requirement to accommodate the water loads.  

As with Criterion A, secondary resources associated with this context include the elevated steel tank, 
which was also completed in 1940. However, the tank does not feature the same monumental 
concrete construction with decorative details, and instead is a typical steel tank of the era. Further 
the tank has been separated from the College Hill Reservoir 607, both functionally and physically.  
Functionally, the steel tank, like the College Hill Reservoir 603, has been decommissioned and is no 
longer is part of the water system. Physically, though the tank remains in its historic-period location 
and has not been moved, in the 1950s, EWEB sold the lots located between the College Hill 
Reservoir 607 and the steel tank. Houses were constructed, and the two resources no longer retain 
their spatial connectivity.  

As such, the College Hill Reservoir 607 is locally significant under Criterion C, in the area of 
Architecture.  
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Criterion D 
Under Criterion D, properties may be eligible for listing in the NRHP if they have yielded, or may 
be likely to yield, information important in history. To be eligible under Criterion D, the property 
must have, or have had, information to contribute to our understanding of human history and that 
information must be considered “important.” Most commonly applied to archaeological sites, 
structures may be eligible under Criterion D if they are the principal source of information (NPS 
1997:21). The College Hill Reservoir system, though arguably monumental in scale, was built of 
common construction methods and well-known materials and is unlikely to answer important 
research questions or yield information about human history that can only be answered by the actual 
physical material, design, construction methods, or interrelation of these resources. As such, the 
system as a whole (nor any of the individual resources) does not appear to be eligible under 
Criterion D.  
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5. Conclusions 
Historical Research Associates, Inc. (HRA), recommends the College Hill Reservoir 607 is locally 
significant under Criterion A, in the areas of Community Planning and Development and 
Politics/Government, and under Criterion C, in the area of architecture, with a period of 
significance of 1940, the date of completion. The College Hill Reservoir 607 is recommended 
individually eligible as a structure. The significance of the resource seems best conveyed independent 
of associated resources (the College Hill Reservoir 603, pump house, and steel tank), which do not 
appear to retain sufficient integrity to convey historic significance. As such, the recommended 
boundary of the eligible property is limited to the footprint of the College Hill Reservoir 607.  

EWEB’s requirements to remove the College Hill Reservoirs will result in the demolition of an 
eligible historic property. HRA recommends EWEB acknowledge the impact to the resource under 
ORS 358.653 and begin consultation with the State Historic Preservation Office, local Tribes, 
Restore Oregon, the City of Eugene Historic Landmark Commission, local historical societies or 
museums, and other interested parties as appropriate. Consultation should include discussions about 
appropriate mitigation measures to resolve the adverse effect, which should be formalized in an 
MOA.  
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OREGON SHPO CLEARANCE FORM 
Do not use this form for ODOT or Federal Highway projects or to record archaeological sites 

 

 
 
Oregon State Historic Preservation Office 
Revised 9/1/2012 

Page 1 

This form is for: federal cultural resource reviews (Section 106); state cultural resource reviews (ORS 358.653) 

SECTION 1: PROPERTY INFORMATION SHPO Case Number: 19-1211 
Resource Name: Eugene Water & Electric Board (EWEB) College Hill Reservoir System  
Street Address: n/a 
City: Eugene County: Lane County  
Agency Project # 1801700 Project Name: College Hill 607 and 603 Reservoirs Replacement  
If there is not a street address, include the Township, Range, and Section, cross streets, or other address description 

Owner:  Private  Local Gov  State Gov  Federal Gov  Other:_________ 

Are there one or more buildings or structures?   YES   NO – If no, skip to Section 2 and append photo(s) 
Is the property listed in the National Register of 
Historic Places?   YES – Individually   YES – In a district  NO    

Original Construction date: 1916, 1940___   Check box if date is estimated 

Siding Type(s) and Material(s): n/a Window Type(s) and Material(s): n/a 

Has the property been physically altered?  No Alterations   Few Alterations   Major / Many Alterations 

SECTION 2: APPLICANT DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY - Check the appropriate box 
The purpose of this review is to avoid impacts to properties that are “eligible” (historic) or already listed in the National Register of Historic 
Places. Fully establishing historic significance can be very costly and time consuming. Therefore initial evaluations are based on age (50 
years or greater) and integrity (historic appearance), which are the minimum qualifications for listing in the National Register. Additional 
documentation may be needed further in the process, but typically initial evaluations allow the review process to proceed expeditiously.  

 The property is considered Eligible at this time because it is already listed in the National Register or 
• is at least 50 years old and retains its historic integrity (minimal alterations to key features) 
• has potential significance (architectural or historical) 

 The property is considered Not Eligible at this time because it: 
• is less than 50 years old or is 50 years or older but there have been major alterations to key features 
• is known to have no significance, based on National Register-level documentation and evaluation 

SECTION 3: APPLICANT DETERMINATION OF EFFECT  - Check the appropriate box 

 The project has NO EFFECT on a property that is eligible or already listed in the National Register, either because there is   
     no eligible property involved or the eligible property will not be impacted physically or visually. 

 The project will have a minor impact on a property that is eligible or already listed in the National Register, and therefore  
      there is NO ADVERSE EFFECT. Minor impacts include replacement of some, but not all, siding, doors, or windows, etc. 

 The project will have a major impact on a property that is eligible or already listed in the National Register, therefore there  
     is an ADVERSE EFFECT. Major impacts include full or partial demolition, complete residing, full window replacement, etc. 
STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE COMMENTS – Official use only 
Eligibility:  Concur with the eligibility determination above.  

 Do not concur with the eligibility determination above. 

Effect:  Concur with the effect determination above.                                              RECEIVED STAMP                    
 Do not concur with the effect determination above. 

 
Signed: ____________________________________      Date:     ________________ 
 
CONTACT INFORMATION STAMP 
Comments: 
 
 

RLS  
ILS  



OREGON SHPO CLEARANCE FORM 
Do not use this form for ODOT or Federal Highway projects or to record archaeological sites 

 

 
 
Oregon State Historic Preservation Office 
Revised 9/1/2012 

Page 2 

SECTION 4: PREVIOUS ALTERATIONS TO THE BUILDING OR STRUCTURE 
Only complete this section for buildings that are 50 years old or older. Describe any alterations that have already occurred to the building, 
such as material replacement, including siding, windows, and doors; any additions, including garages; and any removal or addition of 
architectural details, such as brackets, columns, and trim. Provide estimated dates for the work. Attach additional pages as necessary. 

See attached College Hill Reservoir Intensive Level Survey (Perrin 2020) 

SECTION 5: PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
Describe what work is proposed, including what materials will be used and how they will be installed. Specifically identify what historic 
materials will be retained, restored, replaced, or covered. Include drawings, photos, cut sheets (product descriptions), additional sheets, 
and other materials as necessary. For vacant lots, please describe the intended use. 
 
 
 
See attached College Hill Reservoir Intensive Level Survey (Perrin 2020) 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 6: FUNDING SOURCE  

 ARRA         FCC        FERC          HUD         ODOE         USDARD        USFS      HPF 
 Other: ____________________________________________ 

SECTION 7: AGENCY CONTACT INFORMATION 
Name of Organization Submitting the Project: Eugene Water and Electric Board  
Project Contact Name and Title: Laura Farthing, Senior Engineer  
Street Address, City, Zip: 4200 Roosevelt Blvd, Eugene, OR 97440-2148 
Phone: 541-685-7464 Email: Laura.Farthing@EWEB.ORG 
Date of Submission: May 1, 2020 (completed by Natalie K. Perrin, MS, Historical Research Associates, Inc.) 
SECTION 8: ATTACHMENTS 

REQUIRED  3 – 4, color, 4 x 5 photographs of the subject property, digital or print.    
    One photo is sufficient for vacant property 

AS NEEDED 
Contact SHPO staff with questions 

 Project area map, for projects including more than one tax lot. (Required for HPF- 
     funded projects). See instructions. 

 Additional drawings, reports, or other relevant materials 
 Continuation sheet for sections 4 or 5, or additional context to determine National  

     Register Eligibility.  
SHPO Mailing Address: Review and Compliance, Oregon SHPO, 725 Summer St. NE, Suite C, Salem, OR 97301 

Documents meeting all aspects of the digital submission policy may be submitted by email to 
ORSHPO.Clearance@oregon.gov 
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Appendix B: Stevens & Koon 1939, Design 
Drawings  
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Appendix C: Selected Historic Photographs 
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